2011

GDE Construction Inc v. Dianne W. Leavitt : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the District Court certified as final the orders appealed from. Appellate jurisdiction is conferred upon the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Rule 5(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure and Utah Code § 78A-4-103.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

1. In August 2006, Lorin and Dianne Leavitt ("Leavitts") contracted with GDE Construction, Inc. ("GDE") to perform certain remodeling work on their home and property. (R405; First Amended Verified Complaint, 2)
2. The terms of the agreement were that the Leavitts would pay GDE on a cost plus basis, paying for GDE's costs and 15% for profit and overhead. (R405)
3. The Leavitts contend that the 15% included labor to be performed by GDE. (R405) GDE contends that labor was to be billed separately. (R560)
4. GDE began work on the project in October 2006. (R1084)

5. By the beginning of 2007, the Leavitts had requested substantially more work than originally contemplated and the cost of the project increased.

(R1084)

6. In February 2007, the Leavitts obtained a construction loan from Bank of American Fork ("BAF") in the amount of \$1,137,000 ("First Construction Loan").

(R1102)

7. As a condition of approving the loan, BAF required that GDE sign as guarantor a "Guaranty of Completion and Performance" dated February 9, 2007. GDE signed the guaranty. (R1102)

8. BAF approved the First Construction Loan and disbursed the loan proceeds to GDE, as requested, during the next several months. (R1102)

9. Between February and October 2007, the cost and scope of the project increased again, and the proceeds from the First Construction Loan ran out.

(R1084)

10. In or about October 2007, Lorin Leavitt met with GDE's principals, Don and Amy Eldredge to discuss the status of the project and how to proceed. (R1084)

11. The topics and outcome of the meeting are disputed. GDE contends that the Leavitts agreed to pay just over \$1 million to complete the project, with \$600,000 to be financed by BAF, \$150,000 to be paid in cash immediately, and the remaining \$250,000 to be paid once the project was completed and permanent financing was in place. (R2025) The Leavitts contend that GDE agreed to complete the project for \$600,000, with the same cash payments. (R1084)

12. In December 2007, BAF approved an additional construction loan in the amount of \$600,000. (R1102)

13. As a condition of approving the second construction loan, BAF requested that GDE sign and identical "Guaranty of Completion and Performance" as the first construction loan. GDE signed the document. (R1102)

14. On March 18, 2008, because GDE had not been fully paid for its work on the Project, Amy Eldredge recorded on the Leavitt home a "Notice of Mechanic's Lien" in the principal amount of \$140,000 ("First Lien"). (R2025, 2029)

15. In its First Lien GDE claims it "furnished the first labor, materials and/or equipment on October 10, 2006 and furnished the last labor, materials and/or equipment on April 30, 2008." (R1084)

16. After GDE recorded the First Lien, the Leavitts informed GDE that the lien was preventing them from obtaining permanent financing on the property. As evidence of this fact, the Leavitts presented GDE with a letter from CityWide Home Loans indicating that the lien was preventing them from obtaining permanent financing. (R2029)

17. Four days after the Leavitts informed GDE that the First Lien was preventing them from obtaining permanent financing, GDE presented the Leavitts with a "Promissory Note with Confession of Judgment (Secured by Trust Deed against Real Property)" ("GDE Note"). (R1084) The GDE Note was secured by a trust deed recorded against certain property owned by the Leavitts, however, GDE's trust deed was superseded by previously-recorded interests on that property such that the property had no equity with which to pay GDE's trust deed. (R2025)

18. Even though the note stated that GDE received payment of \$10,000 as consideration, no money was exchanged between GDE and the Leavitts. (R560)

19. Additionally, GDE contends that it never expected the Leavitts to make payment on the GDE Note, but rather, expected that it would be paid from the permanent financing facilitated by the release of the First Lien. (R2025) The Leavitts contend that GDE expected the GDE Note to be paid, but do not dispute that no money changed hands. (R560)

20. After receiving the GDE Note, GDE released the First Lien, recording a release of lien. (R560) No payment was ever made on the note. (R560)

21. On June 25, 2008, GDE recorded on the Leavitt home a new "Notice of Mechanic's Lien" for the GDE Debt in the same principal amount of \$150,000, which amount included the \$140,000 principal amount previously claimed in its First Lien (the "Second Lien"). (R560)

22. In the Second Lien, GDE claimed the same dates of service it previously claimed in the First Lien. (R1102)

23. GDE did not perform any new work on the Project from the time of recording of the First Lien to the time of recording the Second Lien. (R1102)

24. The Leavitts and BAF contend that Amy Eldredge recorded the Second Lien on the Leavitt home because the GDE Note, secured by the GDE Trust Deed, was not paid. (R1102)

25. GDE contends that it recorded the Second Lien because no payment was made toward the balance due to GDE for the work performed on the project. (R2029)

26. On July 16, 2008, GDE further recorded on the Leavitt home an "Amended Lien to Suupercede [sic] Lien Recorded on June 25, 2008, Utah County Recorder Number 73098:2008" in the principal amount of \$563,690.45 ("Amended Lien"). GDE amended the lien to include the total amount due on the project, including amounts owed to subcontractors. Some of the subcontractors asserted claims for breach of contract against GDE, and GDE disclaimed any obligation to pay those subcontractors in those respective actions. (R1102)

27. On August 18, 2008, a Notice of Default and Election to Sell ("Notice of Default") for the GDE

Trust Deed was recorded on the St. George Property.

(R560)

28. Also on August 18, 2008, GDE filed the instant action naming Ms. Leavitt, BAF and other lien claimants as defendants. (R12)

29. In its First Amended Complaint filed November 6, 2008 ("Amended Complaint"), GDE brought claims for, as against Mrs. Leavitt, (1) breach of contract, (2) quantum meruit/contract implied in fact, (3) quantum meruit/contract implied in law, each in the total principal amount of \$563,690.23, and, as against all parties, (4) to foreclose its Amended Lien, with a deficiency judgment as against Mrs. Leavitt for any resulting deficiency following foreclosure of its Amended Lien. (R20)

30. The Leavitts filed a counterclaim, and additionally sought a temporary restraining order preventing GDE from proceeding to foreclosure on the property secured by the GDE Note on the basis that it was fraudulently entered into and enforced. (R104, R359, R405)

31. The parties conducted discovery, including taking the depositions of the principals of GDE and the Leavitts.

32. After discovery closed, the Leavitts filed a motion for summary judgment asserting that the GDE Note constituted an accord and satisfaction and that GDE's claims must be dismissed and requesting 54(b) certification of whatever order the trial court entered. (R1084)

33. BAF also filed a motion for summary judgment, duplicating many of Leavitts arguments, and additionally asserting that the Guaranties require GDE to release its lien claims and settle the other lien claims on the project. (R1102)

34. GDE opposed the Leavitts' motion on several bases: 1) that the GDE Note was void under the doctrine of mutual mistake because both parties believed that release of the lien would lead to permanent financing, and it did not; 2) that there was no accord and satisfaction; and 3) that the release of the First Lien was invalid because no payment was made. (R2025) GDE

submitted a declaration of Amy Eldredge in opposition to the motion. (R2029)

35. GDE opposed BAF's motion, reiterating its defenses from its opposition to the Leavitts' motion, and also asserting that the Guaranties are unenforceable under Utah's Mechanic's Lien Statute. (Utah Code § 38-1-1, et seq.) (R1929)

36. BAF and the Leavitts filed motions to strike the affirmative defense of mutual mistake as it was not adequately pled and to strike the Declaration of Amy Eldredge, arguing that paragraph 5 of the Declaration contradicted her prior deposition testimony and relied on inadmissible hearsay within hearsay. (R 2059, 2126) The offending statement is, "I was told by the Leavitts that the only condition precedent to the granting of a loan by Citywide Home Loans was the release of the First Lien." (R2029)

37. GDE opposed the motion to strike the affirmative defense, relying on the following language from GDE's answer to the Leavitt's Amended Verified Complaint: "GDE specifically pleads the defenses of estoppel, failure of consideration, fraud, illegality,

laches, license, payment, release, statute of frauds, and any other matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense as may be disclosed through discovery." (Emphasis added.) Alternatively, GDE requested that it be granted leave to amend its answer under Rule 15 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Finally, GDE opposed the motion to strike the Declaration of Amy Eldredge, arguing that there was no inconsistency and that the testimony did not rely on hearsay within hearsay. (R2166, 2181)

38. After the parties fully briefed the motions, the Court held oral argument which substantially followed the briefing. On October 26, 2010, the Court issued a written ruling granting in part the motions to strike and granting BAF and the Leavitts' motions for summary judgment. (R2230) The ruling was later reduced to two written orders to which GDE objected, and BAF and the Leavitts replied. (R2288, 2285, 2305, 2344) These orders contained language certifying them as final under Rule 54(b). (R2321, 2391) BAF did not object to these orders.

39. The Order on the motions to strike was entered on November 29, 2010, and the Order on the motions for summary judgment was entered on December 9, 2010.

(2321, 2391)

40. GDE filed a request for reconsideration or clarification on November 26, 2010, which was fully briefed. (R2313) The Court denied GDE's request for reconsideration on January 4, 2011. (R2471)

41. BAF, the Leavitts, and a subcontractor who had entered into a settlement agreement with GDE (Noorda Architectural Metals, Inc.) immediately began collection and enforcement actions against GDE.

42. On January 28, 2011, GDE filed a motion to set aside the judgments, request for 54(b) certification, and for an extension of time to file a notice of appeal. (R2534)

43. On February 1, 2011, GDE filed a notice of appeal. (R2577)

44. On February 7, 2011, before the parties had fully briefed GDE's motion, the Court granted GDE's request for 54(b) certification and for an extension of time to file a notice of appeal. (R2624)

45. Collection actions proceeded before the District Court until March 15, 2011, when Judge Hansen ordered a stay of all proceedings pending the outcome of the appeal. (R3341)

46. BAF filed a motion for summary disposition of this appeal, arguing that: 1) the notice of appeal was untimely; 2) that GDE's docketing statement was deficient; and 3) that the orders appealed from were improperly certified under Rule 54(b). In an Order filed April 26, 2011, this Court denied BAF's motion as to the first two grounds on the merits, and deferred consideration of the certification issue.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

I. Jurisdiction

BAF argues that these Orders were improperly certified under Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The proposed orders submitted jointly by BAF and the Leavitts included language certifying them as final under Rule 54(b), and BAF did not object at that time and has waived that argument.

However, in the event this Court reaches the merits of that issue, GDE asserts that the three

elements required for proper interlocutory certification are met: 1) there must be multiple claims for relief or multiple parties to the action; 2) the decision would be final as to the claim on which it is rendered; and 3) there is no just reason for delay. Here, all three elements are met: there are at least three remaining parties in this litigation; the decisions rendered by the Court fully dispose of the claims on which they were rendered; and there is no just reason for delay. Indeed, BAF itself seems to believe that the Order is final, as it has begun collection actions against GDE, which could not be commenced absent a final order.

II. Motions to Strike

A. Paragraph 5 of the Eldredge Declaration is admissible.

The trial court struck Paragraph 5 on the basis that it contains hearsay within hearsay. However, first level of hearsay - the statement by CityWide - is not being offered for the truth of the matter, but only for the effect on the listener. The second level of

hearsay - the statement by the Leavitts - is a party admission under Rule 801(d)(2).

B. The affirmative defense of mutual mistake was adequately pled. Alternatively, the trial court erred in failing to grant GDE leave to amend its answer to include mutual mistake.

GDE's catchall statement adequately incorporated mutual mistake. Alternatively, because the trial had not commenced, and because the assertion of the defense of mutual mistake would not have necessitated additional discovery, the trial court erred in failing to grant GDE leave to amend its complaint, either expressly or impliedly by consent of the parties.

III. The parties did not reach an accord and satisfaction.

The three elements of accord and satisfaction are: 1) the amount is unliquidated and disputed; 2) payment is made on the amount; 3) that the creditor accept payment as satisfaction of the debt. In this case, none of the three elements are met. First, GDE alleged that the amount was undisputed, as discussed by the parties during the October meeting. Second, the promissory note was never intended by the parties to be payment of any kind as evidenced by the lack of a

\$10,000 down payment and no collection under the note. Furthermore, the note could not serve as payment unless honored. Third, GDE never accepted the note as payment in full.

IV. The Guaranties of Completion are unenforceable under Utah's Mechanic's Lien Statute.

The First Guaranty of Completion was executed in February 2007, before the enactment of § 38-1-39, and is thus expressly invalid and contrary to Utah's Mechanic's lien law (See § 38-1-29) as held by this Court in *Olsen v. Chase*, 2011 UT App 181.

The Second Guaranty of Completion, executed in December 2007, is also invalid as it runs afoul of the above-stated provision forbidding any private attempts to change the nature of lien rights except as expressly provided for in the Code. Additionally, it fails to comply with the requirements of Utah Code § 38-1-39, which requires that all lien releases and waivers conform to a certain format and be founded upon payment of the amount due. Because GDE did not receive payment for its execution of the Second Guaranty, nor does it comply with the form required by Section 39, the Second Guaranty is unenforceable.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The question of 54(b) certification is a jurisdictional question that is reviewed by this Court at its own discretion. *Miller v. USAA Cas. Ins. Co.*, 2002 UT 6, ¶ 18, 44 P.3d 663. The issue of proper certification is a question of law reviewed for correctness. *Kennecott Corp. v. Utah State Tax Comm'n*, 814 P.2d 1099, 1100 (Utah 1991).

Because this matter comes before the Court on competing motions for summary judgment, all factual inferences are taken in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party - Appellant GDE. "An appellate court reviews a trial court's legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment for correctness and views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 6, 177 P.3d 600.

ARGUMENT

GDE argues that jurisdiction is proper in this Court as the Orders were properly certified and BAF waived any argument in opposition to their

certification by failing to file any objection to the Orders.

On the merits, GDE appeals three issues: 1) whether the trial court properly struck the defense of mutual mistake and portions of the Declaration of Amy Eldredge; 2) whether the trial court properly found that there was an accord and satisfaction between the Leavitts and GDE; and 3) whether the trial court properly ruled that the First and Second Guaranties are enforceable against GDE.

I. THE ORDERS APPEALED FROM ARE PROPERLY BEFORE THIS COURT.

This Court has jurisdiction to hear all appeals from final orders. This jurisdiction extends to orders that are certified as final under Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. For 54(b) certification to be proper, only three elements need be met: 1) there must be multiple claims for relief or multiple parties to the action; 2) the decision would be final as to the claim on which it is rendered; and 3) there is no just reason for delay. *Powell v. Cannon*, 179 P.3d 799, 807 (Utah 2008).

Here, all three requirements are met. The claims which are the subject of this appeal are the Leavitt's defense to all of GDE's claims on the basis of accord and satisfaction (the trial court dismissed GDE's complaint as a result), BAF's breach of contract claim under the guaranty (which was granted in its entirety), and the subsequent awards of attorneys' fees as a result of the previous orders. These orders fully dispose of the various claims to which they pertain, leaving the remainder of the case intact. This matter is ripe for appeal.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE MOTIONS TO STRIKE THE DEFENSE OF MUTUAL MISTAKE AND THE DECLARATION OF AMY ELDREDGE.

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN STRIKING PARAGRAPH 5 OF THE ELDREDGE DECLARATION.

In response to BAF and the Leavitts' motions for summary judgment, GDE filed an opposition that included a declaration of Amy Eldredge, a principal of GDE. In the declaration, Amy sought to clarify what the Leavitts had argued regarding the effect of the CityWide letter. Amy stated: "I was told by the Leavitts that the only condition precedent to the

granting of a loan by Citywide Home Loans was the release of the First Lien."

BAF and the Leavitts filed motions to strike this statement on the basis that it contained hearsay within hearsay and was inadmissible. The consideration of evidentiary objections is a matter left to the discretion of the trial court. Here, the trial court improperly granted the motion. Rule 805 of the Utah Rules of Evidence forbids the use of hearsay within hearsay. To be admissible, a statement must either not be hearsay or fall into one of the exceptions of the hearsay rule.

The first level of hearsay here is the statement by CityWide to the Leavitts that the lien was a bar to permanent financing. This statement is not being offered for the truth of the matter - to wit, whether the CityWide would actually fund the loan if the lien was released, but rather, for the effect on the listener, i.e. whether or not the Leavitts and GDE believed that CityWide would fund the loan if the lien was removed. Whether or not CityWide would actually

comply with the letter is immaterial for hearsay purposes.

The second level of hearsay is the statement by the Leavitts to GDE, restating the CityWide letter. However, the statement is not hearsay. Rule 801(d)(2) of the Utah Rules of Evidence states that a statement is not hearsay if: "the statement is offered against a party and is (A) the party's own statement..." Because the Leavitts are a party and it is their own statement, it is not hearsay and the trial court erred in ruling that it was. Accordingly, GDE respectfully requests that this Court reverse the trial court's ruling and order that the statement be admitted into the record.

B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN STRIKING THE DEFENSE OF MUTUAL MISTAKE.

In both its Verified Answer and its Answer to the First Amended Complaint of Lorin and Dianne Leavitt, GDE included the following language, "GDE specifically pleads the defenses of estoppel, failure of consideration, fraud, illegality, laches, license, payment, release, statute of frauds, and any other matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense as may be disclosed through discovery." As discovery

progressed, GDE was able to piece together the evidence showing that the parties believed that the long-term financing would go through and pay GDE's general contractor fee. These facts were established through the various depositions, including the depositions of Don and Amy Eldredge which were conducted near the close of discovery. Now that the facts supporting GDE's mutual mistake argument have been developed, GDE's "catchall" defense is triggered, including mutual mistake. Additionally, GDE is entitled to amend its pleadings to include the affirmative defense of mutual mistake. Rule 15 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states:

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