2011

# GDE Construction Inc v. Dianne W. Leavitt : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

The Brief of Appellant fails to meet the standard set forth in the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, and the deficiencies should be considered fatal to Appellant's appeal.

The Brief of Appellant argues that the trial court erred in striking the affirmative defense of mutual mistake, along with a paragraph of a declaration. However, the affirmative defense of mutual mistake was not specifically pled, and neither the defense nor the underlying facts were raised until the dispositive motion stage of proceedings—after discovery had concluded. Further, the paragraph of the declaration which was stricken relied on inadmissible hearsay, was not admissible or relevant, and only related to the disallowed affirmative defense, and therefore was properly stricken.

Appellant argues that the trial court erred in ruling that an accord and satisfaction existed. Both at the trial court and appellate level, Appellant has simply concluded in argument that there were disputed facts, but at the trial court level Appellant never actually disputed any material fact related to the accord and satisfaction, and the statement of facts in the Brief of Appellant does not point to any specific facts.

Appellants Docketing Statement listed more issues than Appellant actually argued in the Brief of Appellant. Where Appellant has failed to argue an issue in its Brief of Appellant, any appeal of such issue is waived and such issue should not be considered.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. APPELLANTS FAILED TO FOLLOW THE RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE, AND THEREFORE THE APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED.**

#### *A. Appellant Failed to Provide a Transcript of All Relevant Evidence and Proceedings.*

The Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure state that within 10 days of filing the notice of appeal the appellant “shall file with the clerk of the appellate court a written request for transcript, specifying the entire proceeding or parts of the proceeding to be transcribed that are not already on file.” Utah R. App. P. 11(e)(1). If no such transcript is to be requested, the appellant “shall a certificate to that effect.” *Id.* Furthermore, “unless the entire transcript is to be included, the appellant shall . . . file a statement of the issues that will be presented on appeal,” and if the appellee believes a transcript or other parts of the proceedings to be necessary, appellee shall file a designation of additional parts to be included. Utah R. App. P. 11 (e)(3). This necessary designation by appellant provides appellee(s) with the opportunity to obtain necessary transcripts if appellant does not intend to provide them.

On September 13, 2010, the trial court held the Hearing to hear oral argument on the Leavitts’ MSJ and Motion to Strike, and the BAF MSJ and Motion to Strike. A review of the appellate record shows that no transcript has been provided for the hearing. Appellant was provided written notice from the Court on March 4, 2011, and May 2, 2011, informing Appellant that no Request for Transcript had been provided. Appellant failed to correct this deficiency.

B. *The Brief of Appellant Failed to Provide a Statement of the Issues Presented and the Other Necessary Information*

The Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure require the brief of appellant to contain the following, among other things:

(a)(5) A statement of the issues presented for review, including for each issue: the standard of appellate review with supporting authority; and

(a)(5)(A) citation to the record showing that the issue was preserved in the trial court; or

(a)(5)(B) a statement of grounds for seeking review of an issue not preserved in the trial court.

...

(a)(6) Constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules, and regulations whose interpretation is determinative . . . shall be set out verbatim with the appropriate citation.

...

(a)(7) A statement of the case. The statement shall *first* indicate briefly the nature of the case, the course of proceedings, and its disposition in the court below. A statement of the facts relevant to the issues presented for review shall *follow*. All statements of fact and references to the proceedings below shall be supported by citations to the record in accordance with paragraph (e) of this rule.

...

(a)(11) An addendum to the brief or a statement that no addendum is necessary under this paragraph.

Utah R. App. P. 24 (a)(5), (6), (7) (emphasis added). The Brief of Appellant has failed to provide this information or follow these rules. The Brief of Appellant fails to provide a statement of the issues presented for review, and also fails to provide the standard of appellate review for each issue, a citation to the record showing each issue was preserved, and/or a statement of grounds seeking review of an issue not preserved.<sup>1</sup> Verbatim

---

<sup>1</sup> The Brief of Appellant does state that

“[o]n the merits, GDE appeals threes issues: 1) whether the trial court properly struck the defense of mutual mistake and portions of the Declaration of Amy Eldredge; 2) whether the trial court properly found that there was an accord and satisfaction between the Leavitts and GDE; and 3) whether the trial court properly ruled that the First and Second Guaranties are enforceable against

citation of determinative statutes and rules was not provided. Appellant failed to properly set forth a statement of the case. Although Appellant did provide statement of facts and appears to have provided the course proceedings and disposition below, Appellant did so incorrectly. The items are listed in reverse order, and more important, Appellant failed to properly cite to the record for each of the facts stated.<sup>2</sup> Finally, Appellant failed to provide any addendum items, even though there are items which are of central importance that should have been included (i.e. findings of fact and conclusions of law, ruling, etc.)<sup>3</sup> The appellees, and the Court, are thus left to guess as to which issues Appellant is seeking review. The statement of issues and related items are also of particular importance for this particular brief of appellant because Brief of Appellant has stated several facts and made several arguments for the first time, and without a statement

---

GDE.”

(GDE Brf, 21). However, this statement is found in the Argument section of the Brief of Appellant, and it fails to provide any of the other requisite information related to a statement of the issues.

<sup>2</sup> Once the Court has the opportunity to carefully review the Statement of Facts in the Brief of Appellant, it will become apparent that Appellant’s citations to the record are essentially of no value. Rather than actually citing to the portion of the record where a particular fact is demonstrated to be part of the record, Appellant cites to the first page of various pleadings. Rather than pointing to exhibits and documents which were included with the parties’ various pleadings, Appellant cites to the first page of a pleading. Citing the first page is acceptable when providing the procedural history, but not facts. Of even more concern, the pleadings to which Appellant cites are irrelevant. For example, on Statement of Fact Nos. 3, 5, 9, 11, and 32 (which as argued more fully below, are facts which were never made a part of the trial record at all), Appellant’s citation to the record (1084) is the first page of the Leavitts’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Against GDE Construction, Inc.. The citation is not to the Memorandum in Support thereof which contains a statement of facts and includes various exhibits, but rather Appellant cites to the first page of a pleading which is one page long. In addition to those facts, Statement of Fact Nos. 19, 24, 25, 34, and 46 were never made a part of the record, or in the very least, are distortions of facts. A primary basis upon which the trial court granted the various motions for summary judgment is because failed to (or could not) dispute the material facts which were before the trial court. At the trial level, GDE claimed the facts were disputed, but did not actually dispute the facts. Once again, Appellant now argues that the facts were disputed, but fails to even properly identify which facts are part of the trial record.

<sup>3</sup> Leavitts assume that GDE did not provide any addendum items. GDE has yet to provide the Leavitts (or BAF) with a physical copy of the Brief of Appellant, only an unsigned PDF of the Brief which was emailed. The unsigned PDF does not include an addendum, and does not reference an addendum or state that no addendum was needed. The Leavitts (and BAF) have also not received a CD pursuant to Standing Order No. 8. On December 7, 2011, counsel for Leavitts sent a reply email to counsel for GDE asking for a copy of the Brief of Appellant, a CD, or at least confirmation that there is no addendum. Counsel for Leavitts sent another email on December 15, 2011. Counsel for GDE has not responded to either email or provided a copy or CD.



of the issues and proper citation to the record, it is unclear whether the facts are actually part of the record, and whether the arguments are central to issues under review, or merely collateral.

*C. Failure by Appellant to Follow the Rules Should Result in Dismissal of the Appeal*

In *C.M.C. Cassity, Inc. v. Aird*, 707 P.2d 1304 (Utah 1985), the Utah Supreme Court relied on long-standing precedent and dismissed an appeal based on appellant's failure to follow the applicable rules. In that case, the appellant

failed to file a docketing statement as required by Rule 73A of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (U.R.A.P. 9), a designation of the contents of the record on appeal, as required by Rule 75(a) (U.R.A.P. 11(d)), or a certificate that a transcript has been ordered as required by Rule 75(a)(1) (U.R.A.P. 11(e)). The brief filed by [appellant] did not comply with the requirements for briefs set forth in Rule 75(p)(2) (U.R.A.P. 24) in that, among other things, it contained no table of contents, no index of authorities cited, and no citations to the record in the statement of facts.

*C.M.C. Cassity*, 707 P.2d at 1305. In our particular case, Appellant failed to request a transcript as required by Utah R. App. P. 11(e)(1), failed to designate which portions of the proceedings would be necessary, as required by Utah R. App. P. 11(e)(3), failed to provide a statement of the issues presented for review, and accompanying requisite information, as required by Utah R. App. P. 24 (a)(5), failed to provide a verbatim cite of determinative statutes, rules, etc., as required by Utah R. App. P. 24 (a)(6), failed to correctly provide a statement of the case and facts, as required by Utah R. App. P. 24 (a)(7), and Appellant failed to properly address the addendum, as required by Utah R. App. P. 24 (a)(11). The court in *C.M.C. Cassity* dismissed that appeal for less. The present appeal should be dismissed.

In the event that this Court is not inclined to dismiss the appeal, the trial court's judgment should be presumed to be valid in light of Appellant's failure to follow the rules. An appellant is required to provide a transcript, and "[n]either the court nor the appellee is obligated to correct appellant's deficiencies in providing the relevant portions of the transcript." Utah R. App. P. 11(e)(2). Appellants failed to provide a transcript of the Hearing, and this Court has held that in such situations the judgment being appealed is presumed to be valid. "Since counsel failed to provide this court with all relevant evidence bearing on the issues raised on appeal, as required by Utah R. App. P. 11(e)(2), we can only presume that the judgment was supported by sufficient evidence." *State v. Nine Thousand One Hundred Ninety-Nine Dollars*, 791 P.2d 213, 217 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) (citing *Intermountain Power Agency v. Bowers-Irons Recreation Land & Cattle Co.*, 786 P.2d 250, 252 (Utah Ct. App. 1990); *Bevan v. J.H. Constr. Co.*, 669 P.2d 442, 443 (Utah 1983)); see also *State v. Cramer*, 2002 UT 9, ¶¶26-28 (Utah 2002). The appeal should be dismissed, or in the least, the trial court's judgment should be presumed to be valid.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED THE MOTIONS TO STRIKE THE DEFENSE OF MUTUAL MISTAKE AND PORTIONS OF THE DECLARATION OF AMY ELDREDGE**

GDE cannot raise an affirmative defense for the first time at the dispositive motion stage because affirmative defenses must be raised at the initial pleading stage or they are waived. Furthermore, portions of the Declaration should be stricken and disregarded because they (a) rely upon hearsay, and (b) they pertain to an affirmative defense which was not properly pled.

A. *GDE Cannot Raise an Affirmative Defense for the First Time At The Dispositive Motion Stage.*

The Utah Supreme Court has held that “[m]utual mistake is an affirmative defense as it raises matters outside the plaintiffs' prima facie case, and the failure to assert it is a waiver of that defense.” *Mabey v. Kay Peterson Constr. Co.*, 682 P.2d 287, 289 (Utah 1984) (citing Utah R. Civ. P. 8(c), 12(h); *Phillips v. JCM Development Corp.*, Utah, 666 P.2d 876 (1983)). In *Mabey*, the court held that mutual mistake had “not been raised as a defense nor was it made a claim,” and that “Rule 9(b) [of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure] requires that in all averments of mistake, the circumstances constituting mistake shall be stated with particularity.” *Id.* (citations omitted); *see also Resolution Trust. Corp. v. Midwest Fed. Sav. Bank*, 36 F.3d 785, 792 (9th Cir. Cal. 1994) (holding that mutual mistake consistently has been recognized as an affirmative defense, one which is waived if not included in a party's first response to an opponent's pleading.)

GDE acknowledges that the holding in *Mabey* is correct and that “mutual mistake must be affirmatively pled.” (GDE Brf, 24-25). GDE did not specifically raise the defense of mutual mistake in any of its pleadings. The Brief of Appellant acknowledges this fact. GDE argues that its list of affirmative defenses set forth in its initial pleadings included a catchall statement: “and any other matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense as may be disclosed through discovery.” (GDE Brf, 24). However, GDE cites not case law which would allow a party to simply make a broad statement such as this. Allowing such a catchall statement defeats the entire purpose of requiring

that affirmative defenses be specifically pled: notice.<sup>4</sup> Nearly two years after the initiation of this lawsuit, GDE raised for the first time the idea that there was a mutual mistake. As a matter of law, any such defense was waived long ago, and cannot be raised simply because GDE faced the prospect of summary judgment. The factual and expert discovery times have expired, and the Leavitts (and other parties) would be prejudiced if GDE were allowed at such a late stage to raise an affirmative defense, which as shown below, fundamentally alters positions they have taken previously. The argument section of GDE's Opposition relating to mutual mistake should be stricken and disregarded.<sup>5</sup>

GDE next argues that issues which are tried by express or implied consent shall be treated as if they had been properly raised, citing Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 15. (GDE Brf, 25-26). However, GDE's new defense of mutual mistake was not tried by express or implied consent. At the first moment that GDE raised that argument, in its Opposition, both the Leavitts and BAF immediately filed motions to strike. Mutual mistake has neither been expressly or implicitly allowed, whether at trial or in motions. GDE further claims that the "facts surrounding mutual mistake have already been developed and there is no need for further discovery." (GDE Brf, 26). This is incorrect. Mutual mistake, and the underlying facts that GDE now alleges, are entirely new. The underlying facts were not even part of the deposition, hence the reason GDE provided the Declaration, rather than simply cite to the deposition transcript(s).<sup>6</sup> The course and scope

---

<sup>4</sup> From the Ruling: "A catchall statement does not comply with the purpose of the Rule. The purpose is to put the opposing party on notice of what the party claims as defenses." (R.2229).

<sup>5</sup> Even if GDE were allowed to raise such a defense, it would be futile, as argued in the Leavitts' Memorandum in Support of the Leavitt MSJ. (R.2111-2114).

<sup>6</sup> As argued by BAF in its Reply Memorandum in support of the BAF Motion to Strike, the concept of a mistake

of discovery would be fundamentally altered had GDE at any point raised even the suggestion it now argues regarding mutual mistake.

GDE also argues, perhaps as some justification for allowing it to maintain a defense of mutual mistake, that the Leavitts' argument of accord and satisfaction "had not been previously raised." (GDE Brf, 26). This is incorrect. The Amended Answer and Cross Claim of Dianne Leavitt to Plaintiff GDE Construction's First Amended Complaint specifically lists accord and satisfaction as an affirmative defense. (R.354). Furthermore, the underlying fact pattern was specifically pled in the First Amended Verified Complaint of Lorin & Dianne Leavitt, (R. 400-402), so GDE cannot claim it was either unaware of the defense, or of the underlying facts.

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